FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 12/29/2022 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

101576-3

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
12/28/2022 11:10 AM

No. 82554-2 (consolidated with No. 82558-5)

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STAN SCHIFF, M.D., PH.D.,

Respondent,

v.

LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE CO., LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

John M. Silk WSBA #15035 Wilson Smith Cochran Dickerson 901 Fifth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98164 (206) 623-4100

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners are Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company and Liberty Mutual Insurance Company ("Liberty").

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The published opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division I, was filed on November 28, 2022, and is attached hereto.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Division I's published decision holding that Liberty's use of the FAIR Health database violates Washington law conflicts with the determination of the Office of Insurance Commissioner ("OIC"), will harm insureds, and is at odds with applicable statutes and OIC regulations (RAP 13.4(b)(4));
- 2. Division I's holding that Dr. Stan Schiff, a non-insured, has proven the "unfair practice" and "injury" elements of a Consumer Protection Act ("CPA") claim conflicts with this Court's precedents (RAP 13.4(b)(1));
- 3. Division I's rejection of Liberty's "safe harbor" defense ignores the plain language of the Insurance Code and CPA, conflicts with the Court's "safe harbor" decisions, and will undermine the OIC's ability to regulate the insurance market through the policy forms approval process (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (4)); and
- 4. Division I's rejection of Liberty's "good faith" CPA defense conflicts with this Court's precedent and with the other decisions of the Court of Appeals and federal courts (RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(2)).

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case involves a CPA claim by a non-insured challenging bill-review practices that the OIC has repeatedly approved, including *in this case*. As part of its review of Personal Injury Protection ("PIP") and Medical Payments ("MedPay") claims, Liberty investigates the reasonableness of medical bills submitted by providers who treat its insureds by using a computer database operated by an independent, nonprofit health care organization, FAIR Health, Inc. For each claim, Liberty determines whether the treatment was appropriate and then compares the billed charge to the 80th percentile of charges for that treatment in the same geographic area to ensure that the charge is reasonable. Charges at or below that benchmark are paid in full, and those that exceed it are paid at the 80th percentile.

These practices were mandated by the class settlement that the Court unanimously enforced in *Chan Healthcare Group, PS* v. *Liberty Mutual Fire Insurance Company*, 192 Wn.2d 516, 431

P.3d 484 (2018). They were also affirmatively approved by the OIC. In 2016, Liberty asked the OIC to determine the legality of its use of FAIR Health. CP 4889-90. The OIC issued its determination through its policy forms approval process under RCW 48.18.100. CP 4889-90. The agency reaffirmed its approval in this case, testifying that Liberty's practices comply with Washington law. CP 4885-86.

The OIC's repeated approvals are buttressed by the extensive evidentiary record developed in the trial court. After full discovery, the undisputed evidence confirms that Liberty's use of FAIR Health aligns with health care industry standards, protects the consumer by premature exhaustion of benefits, and reimburses providers more generously than what other insurers and government programs pay. CP 3534, 4912-13.

Liberty moved for summary judgment on the grounds that its practices were legal and that Dr. Schiff could not satisfy the other elements of his CPA claim, including the "unfair practice" and "injury" elements. Liberty also argued that the OIC's

affirmative approvals supported a "safe harbor" defense under RCW 19.86.170 and a "good faith" defense under this Court's decision in *Leingang v. Pierce County Medical Bureau*, 131 Wn.2d 133, 155, 930 P.2d 288 (1997). After the trial court denied the parties' cross motions for summary judgment, the parties stipulated to discretionary review. CP 6714-15.

In a published decision, Division I ruled for Dr. Schiff on all issues. As to the legality of Liberty's practices, Division I considered itself bound by *Folweiler v. American Family Insurance Company*, 5 Wn. App. 2d 829, 429 P.3d 813 (2018), *review denied*, 193 Wn.2d 1001 (2019), even though *Folweiler* was decided on a CR 12(b)(6) standard and the court assumed as true factual allegations that have been disproven here. App. at 8-12. Division I granted no deference to the OIC's opinion and did not consider the interests of consumers. App. at 13 & n.8. Division I also ignored Dr. Schiff's lack of standing to assert his "unfair practice" claim—which is clearly a *per se* claim—and his lack of injury. App. at 13-14. And it rejected Liberty's "safe

harbor" and "good faith" defenses, which are based on the OIC's approval. App. at 14-28.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

Division I's published decision conflicts with the OIC's opinion on an important issue of insurance law, undercuts the policy forms approval process of RCW 48.18.100, and conflicts with the Court's longstanding CPA precedents. Review is appropriate under all four provisions of RAP 13.4(b).

(1) <u>Division I's Decision Conflicts with the OIC's</u>
<u>Interpretation of Its Own Administrative</u>
<u>Regulations and Will Harm Insureds</u>

The threshold question in this case is whether Liberty is violating the Insurance Code's requirement that auto insurers pay "reasonable" expenses for medical treatment and the OIC's regulations requiring that they conduct "reasonable" investigations of claims. RCW 48.22.095(1)(a); RCW 48.22.005(7); WAC 284-30-330(3)-(4). With the OIC's blessing, Liberty has implemented an objective, data-driven review

process, relying on FAIR Health to compare providers' charges with the prevailing rates for the same services in the same geographic area. Dr. Schiff advocates a manual, subjective approach that focuses on the providers' personal characteristics, such as education, credentials, and overhead costs. This dispute has fueled more than a decade of litigation involving numerous insurers. Unless the Court grants review, Division I's—not this Court's—resolution of this issue will dictate insurer practices for the entire state.

Like other insurers, every year Liberty receives hundreds of thousands of medical bills for the treatment of injuries covered under PIP or MedPay policies. For each bill, Liberty reviews the appropriateness of the treatment provided, the availability of policy benefits, and the amount of the bill. CP 4911-12. To investigate the reasonableness of the provider's billed charge, Liberty relies on FAIR Health to determine what other providers charge for the same treatment in the same geographic area. CP 4911-13.

FAIR Health is the nation's largest repository of medical claims data. Its databases contain more than 30 billion private health care claims and 20 billion Medicare claims for 10,000 services, representing 150 million patients across 50 states. CP 3530. FAIR Health has been approved by numerous states for determining "reasonable" reimbursements under PIP, out-of-network health insurance, and government programs. CP 3514, 4912, 4987-92. Washington has relied on FAIR Health data to develop fee schedules for public health programs. CP 4991.

Liberty has determined that a "reasonable" fee for PIP or MedPay-covered treatment should not exceed what FAIR Health determines to be the 80th percentile of charges in the provider's geographic area. CP 4912. The 80th percentile is a common benchmark for the reimbursement of medical services. CP 3527. Large health insurers use it, and a recent government study found that the 50th and 80th percentiles were "typical" in the industry. CP 3527. Several states have mandated PIP payments at lower benchmarks, while others use the 80th percentile benchmark

generated by FAIR Health. CP 3527.

Liberty's use of the 80th percentile of FAIR Health ensures that providers are fairly compensated. Dr. Schiff's own billing records confirm this. Almost all of the bills he has submitted for Liberty insureds since 2015 have been paid in full. CP 3534. Only two were reduced, and Liberty's payments on those bills were higher than what Dr. Schiff received from other payers for the same services—approximately 140 percent of Regence Blue Shield's reimbursements, 159 percent of Medicare's reimbursements, 293 percent of Medicaid's reimbursements, and 102 percent of Washington L&I's reimbursements. CP 3534-37.

Still, a few providers have pursued a years-long litigation campaign to prevent insurers in Washington from using data-driven approaches like Liberty's. Their complaints have featured a two-prong attack: (1) allegations that FAIR Health is statistically unreliable and (2) an argument that the Insurance Code and the OIC's regulations bar insurers' use of *any* database.

Folweiler was one such case. After American Family won dismissal of the chiropractor's CPA claim on a CR 12(b)(6) motion, Division I reversed. 5 Wn. App. 2d at 832. In doing so, Division I opined that Washington law required an "individualized assessment" of provider charges that considered the provider's personal "characteristics." *Id.* at 838.

Unlike American Family, Liberty did not move for dismissal under CR 12(b)(6), deciding instead to take Dr. Schiff's factual allegations head on. The parties engaged in full discovery, including from experts and the OIC. As a result, this is the first "FAIR Health" case to come to the Court with a full record. The undisputed evidence demonstrates that FAIR Health is the gold standard of databases, that Liberty uses the database exactly as intended, and that payment the 80th percentile is within industry standards and more generous than other common benchmarks. CP 4912, 4987-92. This is also the first case in which the OIC weighed in on the legality of these practices.

Ignoring this evidence and the OIC's opinion, Division I

ruled in Dr. Schiff's favor. On the issue of legality, Division I held that its decision in *Folweiler* was controlling, despite the different procedural posture. Like Folweiler, Division I's published decision referred repeatedly to "individualized assessments," App. at 11-12, even though that term appears nowhere in the Insurance Code and WAC provisions that Division I cited. Indeed, Liberty already individually reviews every claim. What Liberty does not conduct are personalized assessments in which an adjuster manually investigates the provider's educational and professional background, years of service, certifications, and practice overhead to determine the reasonableness of the provider's billed charges for specific medical services. CP 5503, 5925.

The concept that the Legislature or the OIC intended to mandate such personalized inquiries ignores the reality of modern health care.¹ As renowned economist Dr. Anthony

¹ Other provisions of insurance law expressly contemplate using computerized resources to adjust claims. *See, e.g.*, WAC

LoSasso explains, there are two measures of prices: the list prices for services (i.e., "charges") and the amounts actually paid (i.e., "allowed amounts" or "fees"). CP 3526. A provider's charges are not subject to market forces and do not represent what the provider usually receives in payment for the service. CP 3526-27. In fact, providers almost never receive payment of their full billed charges and often contract for fees that are just a fraction of those charges. CP 3526-27. Recognizing this, the Court has declined in other contexts to presume that a provider's billed charge is reasonable. Hayes v. Wieber Enters., Inc., 105 Wn. App. 611, 616, 20 P.3d 496 (2001) ("[T]he amount actually billed or paid is not itself determinative. The question is whether the sums . . . are reasonable.").

Division I derided Liberty's investigations as "mechanistic" and "formulaic," App. at 1, but the evidence is

-

²⁸⁴⁻³⁰⁻³⁹¹⁽²⁾⁽b)(iv) (permitting insurers to utilize a computerized source in assessing the value of total loss auto claims).

undisputed that Liberty's data-driven approach conforms to health care industry standards for determining "reasonable" fees. CP 3527. Private health insurers and government programs pay according to the same objective criteria. Services are assigned standardized codes, such as the American Medical Association's Current Procedural Terminology ("CPT") codes, and claims data is organized by code and geographic area. CP 3530-32. Providers who perform the same treatments in the same geographic area are not paid differently based on their perceived educational pedigree or credentials—even if there were some publicly accessible source of such personal background information. CP 3538. Division I offered no indication that it had considered this undisputed evidence and showed no awareness of how aberrant its proposed "individualized assessments" would be in the health care market.

Division I also failed to consider whether personalized investigations of billed charges are preferable from a policy perspective. Attempting to determine the connection between a

provider's "background" and the reasonableness of their charge for a specific service would be a subjective exercise, yielding inconsistent results based on the implicit biases of how each adjuster values "characteristics" such as educational pedigree, years of service, degrees, credentials, and other background factors. And, to be sure, there is no public interest in compensating providers more merely because they have unusually high overhead expenses. CP 3538. This is especially true where, as here, provider compensation is paid from insureds' benefits.

Even if the individualized assessments mandated by Division I made sense in theory, they would be impossible to implement. Providers do not tell insurers about their education, certifications, and accolades—and certainly not their overhead costs. CP 4912. Moreover, personalized investigations cannot be scaled over the hundreds of thousands of bills that Liberty and other insurers receive annually. The human resources required to conduct such investigations will make them cost prohibitive,

especially for the most commonly billed services. CP 4912-13.

Of course, this is the desired endgame of the few outlier providers who submit the highest bills. Stripped of the ability to effectively investigate the reasonableness of charges on a routine basis, insurers will likely just pay providers' full billed charges. Knowing this, many providers will raise their charges. The inevitable inflationary spill-over effects will not be limited to PIP and MedPay. Creative advocates will find ways to leverage Division I's rejection of FAIR Health to private insurance and taxpayer-funded health care, especially where there are contractual or statutory obligations to pay a "reasonable" fee.

Insureds will be the losers in this scenario. In the immediate term, their benefits will exhaust more quickly. Insureds in Washington typically have just \$10,000 in PIP benefits per auto accident. More than 25% of insureds exhaust these benefits, which means that they will be forced to forego

treatments or pay for them out of pocket.² CP 3545-48. Over time, insurance premiums will also increase as the cost of care rises. CP 3542-45. In short, Washington consumers will pay more for coverage and get less treatment from their benefits.

Fortunately, these undesirable policy outcomes can be avoided by correcting Division I's erroneous legal analysis. The Insurance Code and applicable WAC regulations do not require the "individualized assessments" that Division I mandated. The only Insurance Code provisions cited by Division I are RCW 48.22.095(1)(a) and RCW 48.22.005(7). App. at 9. The former requires that "[i]nsurers providing automobile insurance policies must offer minimum personal injury protection coverage for each insured with benefit limits as follows: (a) *Medical and hospital benefits* of ten thousand dollars[.]" RCW 48.22.095(1)(a) (emphasis added). The latter defines "medical and hospital

² Because medical providers bill Liberty directly and Liberty protects its insureds from balance billing, insureds are not drawn into this process. CP 4912-13.

benefits" as "payments for all *reasonable and necessary expenses* incurred by or on behalf of the insured for injuries sustained as a result of an automobile accident[.]" RCW 48.22.005(7) (emphasis added).³

WAC regulations also do not support Division I's holding. As Division I noted, the OIC has defined unfair claims practices to include "[f]ailing to adopt and implement reasonable standards for the prompt investigation of claims arising under insurance policies" and "[r]efusing to pay claims without conducting a reasonable investigation." WAC 284-30-330(3)-(4) (emphasis added); App. at 9. There is no statutory or administrative requirement that insurers conduct "an individualized assessment" of providers' billed charges, much less that such an assessment consider the "identity, background, credentials, or experience or any personal characteristic of the

³ There is no statutory obligation to pay "reasonable" MedPay expenses. MedPay is entirely contractual. Dr. Schiff does not cite any legal obligation to pay more than the policy provides.

individual provider." App. at 11 (quoting *Folweiler*, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 832-33). Division I merely parroted the plaintiff's legal theory without conducting any textual analysis or consideration of the public policy implications of its decision.

This lack of analysis is particularly troubling because Division I's holding is in stark contrast to the OIC's administrative approval. In 2016, the OIC conducted a review of Liberty's detailed policy language specifying exactly how it would investigate claims, including the specific database it could use and the specific percentile benchmark. CP 4889-90. The OIC determined that Liberty's disclosed practices complied with the Insurance Code and the agency's regulations. CP 4923. After *Folweiler*, Dr. Schiff's counsel lobbied the OIC to revoke its approval, but the OIC declined. CP 4885-86. Then, in this case, the OIC's Deputy Insurance Commissioner testified that the agency still believes Liberty's practices are legal. CP 4885-86.

This Court has held that agency determinations are entitled to "due deference" and "substantial weight." *Durant v. State*

Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 191 Wn.2d 1, 13 419 P.3d 400 (2018); Port of Seattle v. Pollution Control Hr'gs Bd., 151 Wn.2d 568, 595, 90 P.3d 659 (2004). But Division I gave the OIC's opinion only lip service, stating curtly in a footnote that "[t]here is a difference ... between deference and fealty." App. at 12-13 n.8. True. But there is also a difference between disagreement and disregard. The OIC deserves more than Division I's indifference, as do the insureds whom the agency strives to protect. This Court should grant review.

(2) <u>Division I's Decision Conflicts with this Court's Precedents on the "Unfair Practice" and "Injury" Elements of a CPA Claim</u>

The Court should also grant review to correct Division I's erroneous application of this Court's longstanding precedents on the "unfair practice" and "injury" elements of a CPA claim. As the Court held in *Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Insurance Company*, the first CPA element requires the plaintiff to prove an "unfair or deceptive act or practice." 105 Wn.2d 778, 780, 719 P.2d 531 (1986). Dr. Schiff does not allege

a deceptive practices claim. Moreover, because Dr. Schiff is not an insured, he lacks standing to assert a *per se* "unfair practice" claim. As this Court held in *Tank v. State Farm & Casualty Company*, "*only an insured* may bring a *per se* action." 105 Wn.2d 381, 394, 715 P.2d 1133 (1986) (internal citations omitted).

This Court has identified a third category, in which the "unfair or deceptive act or practice [is] not regulated by statute but [is] in violation of the public interest." *Klem v. Wash. Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 787, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). But Dr. Schiff's claim does not fit this framework. Division I held that Liberty's practices *are* regulated by statute, and it did not consider the public interest. App. at 8-9. Rather, Dr. Schiff's claim is indistinguishable from what the Court classified as a *per se* claim in *Tank. Compare Tank*, 105 Wn.2d at 394 (citing RCW 48.30.010 and WAC 284-30-300 *et seq.*) *with* App. at 8-9 (same). Division I found an "unfair practice" based solely on its conclusion that Liberty's practices violated the Insurance Code

and WAC regulations. App. at 11-12. And, in doing so, Division I relied on this Court's precedents involving *insureds* as plaintiffs. *Id.* at 9-10 (citing *Indus. Indem. Co. of the Nw., Inc. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn.2d 907, 921-22, 792 P.2d 520 (1990); *Peoples v. USAA*, 194 Wn.2d 771, 778, 452 P.3d 1218 (2019)). This holding cannot be squared with *Tank*.

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