FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/10/2023 4:38 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON

CLERK SUPREME COURT NO. SUPREME COURT NO. 101576-3 COURT OF APPEALS NO. 82554-2-I

IN THE WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

STAN SCHIFF, M.D., PH.D, on behalf of himself and a class of similarly situated providers,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

V.

LIBERTY MUTUAL FIRE INSURANCE CO. and LIBERTY MUTUAL INSURANCE COMPANY, foreign insurance companies,

Defendants-Petitioners.

RESPONSE OF RESPONDENT DR. SCHIFF TO LIBERTY MUTUAL'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

Division I properly dismissed this argument. *Schiff* at *12. *Folweiler's* holding was not dependent on its 12(b)(6) posture or on taking the plaintiff's allegations as true. *Folweiler* was a legal determination about the plain meaning and requirements of the Insurance Code and WAC 284-30-330.

Liberty also attempts to distinguish this case from Folweiler by raising irrelevant facts about the reliability of the database and its widespread use and by arguing that not relying on a database is "impossible."

But nothing in *Folweiler* depended on how reliable the database was or on whether it can determine a "reasonable fee." And the majority of PIP insurers in Washington do *not* use a database and instead individually investigate the reasonableness of bills. CP 5872, 5874, 5882. This shows that it *is* entirely possible, and reaffirms the harm to consumers and industry

_

⁷ Although irrelevant here, neither are true. FH, and its predecessor, Ingenix, have been repeatedly excluded as unreliable and incapable of determining a "reasonable" charge. The FH user agreement and licensing agreement state it is *not* to be used to determine a reasonable fee. CP 2047, 6471.

competitors from Liberty's practices. Liberty has saved itself substantial sums on PIP payments from this practice, half of which it pockets and does not pass on to insureds. CP 6428. It has unfairly gained a competitive advantage.

- 3. Division 1 properly concluded Schiff has satisfied all other elements of proving an unfair CPA practice
 - a. Division I properly held Schiff has proven injury, in keeping with this Court's decision in *Peoples*

Liberty argues that its reduced payment to Schiff does not constitute CPA "injury" because Schiff has failed to prove his full bill was reasonable. Liberty is wrong.

As Division I properly held, looking to this Court's many cases on the subject, "injury" under the CPA is broadly defined and has been met here. *Schiff* at *13. It is met "upon proof the plaintiff's 'property interest or money is diminished," even if the diminishment is "minimal." *Panag v. Farmers*, 166 Wn.2d 27, 57-58, 204 P.3d 885 (2009).

Indeed, this Court has answered this exact question in *Peoples v. United Services Automobile Association*, 194 Wn.2d 771, 776-77, 425 P.3d 1218 (2019). In *Peoples*, this Court analyzed the identical practice and USAA's argument that denial of full payment of PIP benefits did not constitute CPA "injury to business or property." *Id.* This Court roundly rejected USAA's argument, holding that those "wrongfully denied PIP benefits are injured in their "business or property." *Id.* at 781.8

Further, under WAC 284-30-330 (4), it is an unfair claims handling practice to refuse to pay claims in full without first conducting a reasonable investigation. Division I properly held that because Liberty did not conduct this investigation, it cannot claim that the full amount of Schiff's bill was not reasonable. As Division I aptly noted, "were we to adopt [Liberty's] argument,

⁸ Peoples was an insured, but the distinction is irrelevant for the purpose of analyzing CPA "injury."

the insurer would be permitted to rely on its own unlawful conduct to evade liability." *Schiff*, No. 82554-2-I, slip op. at 13.9

Nor does Liberty dispute that the other types of injury Schiff has proven, including administrative expense and inconvenience, CP 5886-87, 5892, constitute injury under the CPA. *Folweiler* clearly held, in keeping with Washington authority, that these types of harms constitute injury. 5 Wn. App. 2d at 839-840.

Liberty *knows* this evidence is inadmissible because its counsel was plaintiff's counsel in *Gerlach* who made and won the argument that the exact evidence Liberty submits here is irrelevant and inadmissible.

^{- 11 - 2 - 11}

⁹ Liberty argues Schiff's bills are unreasonable because other non-auto-insurer payors reimburse him at a lower rate. This Court and Div. I have held that evidence that the physician accepts a lesser payment for services from Medicare or other payors is "not helpful to the jury" in determining whether the billed rate is reasonable, and should be excluded. *Gerlach v. Cove Apartments, LLC*, 196 Wn.2d 111, 124, n.8, 471 P.3d 181 (2020). *See also Hayes v. Wieber Enterprises, Inc.*, 105 Wn. App. 611, 616, 20 P.3d 496 (2001). Medicare and L&I have fee schedules, and first-party healthcare payers have contracted rates with providers. They do not, like PIP insurers, have statutorily mandated duties to pay "*all* reasonable bills."

b. Division I properly held Schiff has proven "public interest impact"

Liberty misconstrues the ways in which a plaintiff can establish a CPA claim, arguing to this Court, as it did to Division I, that because Schiff is not an insured and cannot bring a *per se* claim solely based on a violation of a statute or regulation, he is required to satisfy the "*Klem* test" to meet the public interest element (prove that the challenged practice violates the public interest and is likely to cause substantial injury to consumers which is not reasonably avoidable by consumers themselves and is not outweighed by countervailing benefits). Div. I Reply at 15-16; PFR at 19-20.

But this test is only one of the ways of meeting the public interest element of the CPA. As this Court explained in *Panag*, an "unfair practice" can be shown by proving the practice offends public policy as established "by statutes [or] the common law." 166 Wn.2d at 54. The public interest impact prong is then met if the practice violates a statute that incorporates the CPA or that specifically declares a public

interest impact. *Id.* at 54-55; see also WPI 310.04. This is not limited to per se claims. Panag, 166 Wn.2d. at 54-55.

Division I applied this test in *Folweiler*, stating that "while Folweiler may not maintain a CPA action for a per se violation of the PIP statute and trade practice regulations, the statute and regulations may nonetheless guide our consideration of whether American Family's claim settlement practice is unfair and violates the public interest." 5 Wn. App. 2d. at 837. The court concluded that the 80th percentile practice constitutes an unfair act in violation of the CPA "based on a violation of the public interest embodied in RCW 48.22.091(1)(a) and RCW 48.22.005(7) ... [and] WAC 284-30-300." 5 Wn. App. at 839.

Division I properly concluded that *Folweiler* "forecloses any argument that these elements [injury and public interest impact] have not been established." *Schiff*, No. 82554-2-I, slip op. at 13, n.9.¹⁰

¹⁰ *Panag* addressed and rejected Liberty's argument that only insureds are protected under the CPA. 166 Wn.2d at 43-44.

20

B. Division I properly dismissed Liberty's "safe harbor" affirmative defense

RCW 19.86.170 provides a statutory exemption to CPA coverage for certain regulated industries. This "safe harbor" exemption has been given an extremely narrow construction by Washington courts because it is inherently inconsistent with the strong public policy that the CPA be "broadly construed" to protect the public from unfair and deceptive practices. See Vogt v. Seattle-First Nat. Bank, 117 Wn.2d 541, 552, 817 P.2d 1364 (1991). As such, to prove the exemption, Liberty must prove that at the time of the acts in question, it had specific, affirmative and express permission by OIC of the specific practice at issue and that this practice is consistent with Washington law. See Id.; In re Real Est. Brokerage Antitrust Litig., 95 Wn.2d 297, 301-03, 622 P.2d 1185, 1189 (1980).

_

Further, WAC 284-30-330 is specifically targeted toward "unfair claims settlement practices…applicable to the settlement of claims." Claims settling practices involve and affect providers.

Liberty has admitted that its safe harbor affirmative defense is based *solely* on OIC's approval of its 2006 auto insurance policy. Div. I Reply at 27 n. 12; PFR at 23-26. Thus, Division I was called upon to decide whether OIC policy language approval *alone* qualifies an insurer for the exemption.

Division I – in a robust and comprehensive analysis of the history, text, purpose, and interpretive caselaw of the exemption, spanning more than 15 pages of its opinion – properly held "no." Its decision was based on the following legally and factually correct reasons:

First, given that nearly every insurance policy in Washington must be approved by OIC, Liberty's broad interpretation of the safe harbor to exempt basically all insurance policies would eviscerate CPA liability and conflict with a broad interpretation of the CPA. RCW 19.86.920. This would be contrary to the clear language of RCW 19.86.170, which holds that violations of insurance regulations *are* subject to CPA liability, and to decisions of this Court interpreting RCW

19.86.170 and affirming the same. *Schiff*, No. 82554-2-I, slip op. at 19 (citing *Indus. Indem. Co. of the Nw. v. Kallevig*, 114 Wn. 2d 907, 922, 792 P.2d 520 (1990); *Leingang v. Pierce Cty Med. Ctr.*, 131 Wn.2d 133, 152 930 P.2d 288 (1997) ("The general rule is that violations of insurance regulations are subject to the Consumer Protection Act")).¹¹

Second, the standard in RCW 19.86.170 for an exemption to CPA liability under 19.86.020 for insurers "is limited to those actions required or permitted to be done.' Schiff, No. 82554-2-I slip op. at 17 (emphasis in original) (citing Martha V. Gross, The Scope of the Regulated Industries Exemption under the Washington Consumer Protection Act, 10 GONZ. L. REV. 415, 425 (1975)). "Required or permitted" means the agency must take "overt affirmative actions specifically to permit the actions

_

¹¹ See also Peoples, 194 Wn.2d at 781 (holding that narrow definition of injury would "thrust violations of Washington's PIP regulations entirely outside the reach of the CPA's private enforcement provision" and would be contrary to RCW 19.86.170's mandate that illegal insurance actions "shall" be subject to the CPA).

or transactions engaged in." *Id.* at 24 (citing *In re Real Est.*, 95 Wn.2d at 301). And it applies only if the "particular practice" found to be unfair or deceptive is "specifically permitted, prohibited, or regulated." *Id.* at 24 (citing *Vogt*, 117 Wn.2d at 552 ("[o]verly broad construction of 'permission' may conflict with" CPA's broad construction).

Division I properly concluded that OIC's routine policy language approval does not meet the limited definition of "permission," given that nearly all insurance policies must be approved by OIC.

The brunt of Liberty's argument to the contrary is that OIC implicitly ruled on the legality of each and every policy language provision in administratively approving the policy. Division I properly rejected this argument, noting that in *Durant*, OIC had approved State Farm's MMI requirement for decades, yet this Court deemed this provision illegal. *Id.* at 22 (citing *Durant*, 191 Wn.2d at 12-13). Division I properly held Liberty's interpretation would undermine the authority of Washington

courts to determine the lawfulness of insurance industry practices. *Id.* at 28. *See also Durant*, 191 Wn.2d at 14, n.5; *Nyugen*, 56 Wn. App. at 204.

Third, Division I properly held that even if policy language approval *could* meet the safe harbor exemption in some circumstance, Liberty did not meet the standard here.

Liberty's 2006 policy does not say it *solely* relies on a database percentile. Division I properly held this is not the kind of *specific approval* of a *specific practice* required for a narrow exemption from liability. *Schiff*, No. 82554-2-I slip op. at 27.

This Court should not disturb this ruling.

C. Division I properly dismissed Liberty's "good faith" defense

Division I also carefully and closely analyzed, and properly rejected, Liberty's claim that it is shielded from CPA liability because it acted in "good faith based on an arguable interpretation of existing law." Division I properly held that 1) the "good faith" defense does not apply to a case of this nature, that is not a bad faith denial of coverage claim; and 2) in any

event, there are no cases supporting Liberty's contention that a "good faith" defense could be premised wholly on regulatory approval of an insurance policy. *Schiff*, No. 82554-2-I slip op. at 29-34. This Court should not disturb this ruling.

1. Division I properly held the good faith exception does not apply to denial of payment claims

Division I catalogued the relevant Washington cases and properly concluded that in the insurance context, the "good faith" defense is a valid defense only to two types of claims: 1) a "bad faith" claim in which bad faith is an element of the claim; and 2) a denial of *coverage* claim, which is different than a denial of *payment*. ¹² *Id*. at 30-32. Schiff's claim is for a denial of *payment*, not coverage, and the claim does not have "bad faith" as an element.

Division I properly declined to extend the defense to an

26

_

¹² See Lock v. Am. Fm. Ins. Co., 12 Wn. App. 2d. 905, 926, 460 P.3d 683 (2020) ("value disputes are not coverage denials").

entirely new type of claim. *Id.* at 32.¹³

Liberty provides no compelling response to this authority.

Liberty parses the phrasing of *Leingang* and states that the Court used broad language to discuss the defense. PFR at 28. But Liberty admits *Leingang* was a coverage dispute. *Id*.

Liberty also argues that Washington Courts of Appeals have applied the good faith defense more broadly in contexts *other than* insurance, but does not dispute there are no Washington appellate cases in the insurance context applying the case beyond the bad faith denial of coverage. PFR at 29-30.

Liberty points to no erroneous application of existing law and no conflicting decisions justifying review. RAP 13.4(b).

2. Division I properly held that OIC regulatory approval alone is not enough

27

¹³ It is undisputed Liberty's reductions were denials of payment, not coverage. CP 6250. Moreover, in *Leingang*, this Court directly rejected the identical argument – that a denial of full payment constitutes a denial of coverage. 131 Wn.2d at 143-144.

Liberty again here relies solely on OIC's 2006 policy language approval to support its defense. It does not identify a single case that has found a good faith exception based solely on OIC's administrative approval of policy language. Division I properly held that if this alone were enough, the exception would eviscerate the CPA's protections as they apply to the insurance industry. *Schiff*, No. 82554-2-I, slip op. at 33.

Indeed this Court, in *Panag*, held the contrary, ruling that even highly regulated industries like insurance remain fully subject to the CPA, and a "central purpose of the CPA is to provide an efficient and effective method of filling the gaps in the common law and statutes," often resulting in broader protection than in the statutes and regulations alone. 166 Wn.2d. at 54-55 (internal citations and quotations omitted). An expansive reading of the good faith exception, which is not supported by any caselaw, would directly undermine this goal.

Division I also aptly noted here that holding that OIC's regulatory approval insulates insurers from CPA liability would

undermine the authority of Washington courts to determine the lawfulness of insurers' conduct. *Id.* at 33-34. OIC itself admitted in deposition that the court, not OIC, decides what the law requires. CP 6014, 6061.

Liberty cites to *Leingang* for its argument, contending that this Court looked to OIC's approval there to support a good faith defense. PFR at 27-29. But as Division I noted, *Leingang* is clear that policy language approval *alone* is insufficient. In *Leingang*, this Court relied upon two prior Superior Court and two prior Appellate Court decisions holding the insurer's exclusion from UIM coverage consistent with Washington law as the basis for the insurer's "good faith." *Schiff*, No. 82554-2-I, slip op. at 32-33 (citing *Leingang*, 131 Wn.2d at 155).

Here, in contrast, at the time of the reductions (and to this day), there were no decisions approving Liberty's practice and there were numerous rulings holding the practice is or likely is unfair.

Division I properly held that this is not enough to support

a good faith defense, and its ruling should not be disturbed.

IV. CONCLUSION

None of the bases for review in RAP 13.4 are applicable. Liberty asks this Court to accept review to overturn established CPA cases, and drastically broaden, without justification, exceptions to CPA liability. This Court should deny review.

I certify that this brief contains 4995 words.